0 Wapp

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED35

FEB 10 1993

ELERK, SUPREME COURT.

Sy Chief Deputy Clerk

KENNETH DALE CUNNINGHAM and TERESA MARIE CUNNINGHAM,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. 81,056

vs.

STANDARD GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

CASE NO. 91-2785

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM
Fla. Bar No. 194435
LEFFERTS L. MABIE, JR.
Fla. Bar No. 49231
JAMES A. HIGHTOWER
Fla. Bar No. 196438
Levin, Middlebrooks, Mabie,
Thomas, Mayes & Mitchell, P.A.
Post Office Box 12308
Pensacola, Florida 32581
904/435-7132
Attorneys for Petitioners

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### Introduction

Petitioners, Kenneth Dale Cunningham and Teresa Marie Cunningham, appellees below, seek review of the decision of the District Court of Appeal, First District, Case Number 91-2785, currently reported as <a href="Standard Guaranty Insurance Co. v.Cunningham">Standard Guaranty Insurance Co. v.Cunningham</a>, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D2380 (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 12, 1992)(App. Tab 1). The decision below vacated a judgment, based upon a jury verdict, entered in petitioners' favor by the Circuit Court in and for Escambia County against respondent, Standard Guaranty Insurance Company, appellant below, in a bad faith failure to settle action. The district court certified to this court a question of great public importance (18 Fla. L. Weekly D241)(App. Tab 2) and this court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, \$ 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.

References to the appendix to this brief will be made by designation "App." with the appropriate tab and page number. References to the record below will be made by designation "R," to the trial transcript by designation "T" and to the transcripts of hearings in the trial court by the letter assigned by the circuit court clerk (e.g., Transcript A).

## Course of Proceedings Below

Mr. and Mrs. Cunningham initiated this action by filing a complaint against Joseph Grant James, seeking damages for injuries sustained by Mr. Cunningham which the complaint alleged were caused by James' negligent operation of a motor vehicle (R

1-2). James was insured by Standard Guaranty with a policy of automobile liability insurance which provided bodily injury liability limits of \$10,000 per person and property damage liability limits of \$10,000 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 22, page 1).

After the action against James had been pending without settlement for approximately seven months, Mr. and Mrs. Cunningham filed an amended complaint for damages, adding Standard Guaranty as a party and alleging that Standard Guaranty acted in bad faith by failing to settle the Cunninghams' claim against James within its insured's policy limits (R 6-9). Several days after filing the amended complaint, Mr. and Mrs. Cunninghams' attorney wrote counsel for Standard Guaranty, reiterating the Cunninghams' contention that Standard Guaranty had acted in bad faith by failing to settle the claim and making the following proposal:

- 1. We will agree to try the bad faith case first and if a jury determines that Standard Guaranty is in bad faith your client will not be exposed to an excess judgment because Standard Guaranty will be responsible for the entire judgment.
- 2. If a jury determines there is no bad faith, our client will agree then to accept the \$10,000 so that Mr. James will not be exposed to an excess judgment.
- 3. During the discovery in the bad faith case, we will agree to submit our client for deposition as well as all of his treating physicians so that Standard Guaranty will have an early opportunity to assess the magnitude of the claim.
- (R 98, App. Tab 3 at 1). Standard Guaranty accepted the Cunninghams' offer to litigate the issue of bad faith prior to determination of liability and damages as confirmed by

correspondence between counsel and as announced on the record before the trial judge at pretrial conference (R 99-101, App. Tab 3 at 2-4; Transcript A 9-11, 69-70, App. Tab 4).

The bad faith action then proceeded towards trial. In its pretrial memorandum, Standard Guaranty admitted that the automobile accident was the fault of its insured, defendant James, and that the bodily injury damages sustained by Cunningham exceeded \$10,000, the limits of Standard Guaranty's bodily injury liability coverage (R 103, App. Tab 5). After trial, the jury returned a verdict finding Standard Guaranty guilty of bad faith (R 328).

After verdict Standard Guaranty filed a motion for judgment in accordance with its motion for directed verdict and a motion for new trial (R 340, 351). At the hearing on the post-trial motions, Standard Guaranty, for the first time in these challenged the trial court's subject matter proceedings, jurisdiction and requested a new trial on the ground that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to determine Standard Guaranty's liability for bad faith failure to settle before determination of the underlying action and before entry of a judgment against the insured in excess of policy limits (Transcript C 40-41, App. Tab 6).

The trial court denied Standard Guaranty's post-trial motions and entered judgment for the Cunninghams on the issue of bad faith (R 356, 370). Standard Guaranty appealed the judgment to the District Court of Appeal, First District, raising a number of issues, including whether the trial court had subject matter

jurisdiction to determine the bad faith claim. In a per curiam decision, the district court of appeal vacated the judgment in favor of Mr. and Mrs. Cunningham based upon its finding that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate the insurer's liability for bad faith failure to settle prior to resolution of the underlying tort claim (App. Tab 1). The district court denied the Cunninghams' motions for rehearing and rehearing en banc, but certified to this court the issue set forth below as a question of great public importance (App. Tab 2).

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

DOES THE TRIAL COURT HAVE JURISDICTION TO DECIDE AN INSURER'S LIABILITY FOR BAD-FAITH HANDLING OF CLAIM PRIOR TO DETERMINATION OF THE UNDERLYING TORT ACTION FOR DAMAGES BROUGHT BY THE INJURED PARTY **AGAINST** THE INSURED WHERE THE PARTIES STIPULATE THAT THE BAD-FAITH ACTION MAY BE TRIED BEFORE THE UNDERLYING NEGLIGENCE CLAIM?

(as framed by the district court's certified question)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Since the case was decided on jurisdictional grounds, the district court did not address the other issues raised by Standard Guaranty on appeal.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Notwithstanding the agreement of the parties to litigate the issue of the insurer's bad faith prior to final determination of the underlying tort claim, the district court determined that trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction petitioners' action for bad faith failure to settle because a judgment in excess of policy limits had not been entered against the insured as required by Fidelity and Casualty Company of New York v. Cope, 462 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1985), in which this court held that a bad faith cause of action could not be maintained where the injured party had released the tortfeasor and satisfied the excess The district court erred in that determination because Cope merely decided that in the absence of an excess judgment a cause of action for bad faith could not be stated. Contrary to the district court's decision below, Cope did not hold that the failure to plead and prove the entry of an excess judgment against the insured deprived the trial court of subject matter jurisdiction. In cases where an excess judgment has not been alleged, Cope merely affords the insurance company the right to assert as a defense the failure of the complaint to state a cause of action, a defense which can be waived and which was waived by respondent by agreement and by its failure to raise the issue until after trial.

Cope also is factually distinguishable from the case at bar because the insurer in this case stipulated to the liability of its insured and to the fact that petitioners' damages exceeded the policy limits available to the insured. Such stipulation was the

functional equivalent of an excess judgment for purposes of satisfying the requirements of Cope.

The court's subject matter jurisdiction refers to the court's authority to adjudicate the general class of cases represented by the complaint and does not depend on whether the complaint is subject to dismissal for failure to state a good cause of action. The cause of action alleged at bar, a bad faith insurance action for damages in excess of the jurisdictional monetary limits of the court's authority, was representative of the class of cases over which the circuit court maintains jurisdiction, and the deficiency in the complaint relating to the absence of an excess judgment made the complaint subject to dismissal for failure to state a cause of action, but did not divest the court of subject matter jurisdiction.

The procedure followed by agreement of the parties in this case to try the bad faith case prior to final determination of the underlying claim promotes settlement of cases and conserves judicial and litigant resources. The agreement also affords insureds exposed to the financial devastation of an excess judgment complete protection and should be approved by this court on policy grounds.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

The district court incorrectly applied Fidelity and Casualty Company of New York v. Cope, 462 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1985).

In reversing the judgment based on jurisdictional grounds, the district court, relying on Fidelity and Casualty Company of New York v. Cope, 462 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1985) (App. Tab 7), found "that the trial court lacked subject-matter jurisdiction to determine whether Standard acted in bad faith in handling the negligence claim against the insured, James, absent a final judgment against its insured which exceeded the policy limits." Slip. op. at 1-2 (App. Tab 1). The district court also relied on its decision in Dixie Insurance Co. v. Gaffney, 582 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(App. Tab 8), which it found indistinguishable from the facts of the present case. Slip op. at 2-3 (App. Tab 1). Judge Wolf, in a specially concurring opinion, agreed with the majority's disposition of the case because he believed Dixie <u>Insurance</u> was indistinguishable and controlling. Judge Wolf noted, however, that while **Cope** requires a prior judgment which exceeds the policy limits as an essential element of a bad faith failure to settle cause of action, he did "not believe that the failure to allege and prove this essential element rises to the level of a jurisdictional defect which cannot be waived. " Slip op. at 4 (App. Tab 1).

In light of this analysis, the answer to the certified question presented turns on the question whether the failure to

plead and prove the entry of an excess judgment in a bad faith action constitutes a defect which deprives the trial court of subject matter jurisdiction or whether the defect presents the defense of failure to state a cause of action which can be waived. On the one hand, the defense of lack of subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived by failure to plead or by stipulation of the parties and may be raised at any time during the course of the proceedings. Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.140(h)(2); Brautigam v. MacVicar, 73 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 1954). "Failure to state a cause of action," on the other hand, is one of the affirmative defenses enumerated by Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.140(b) which may be asserted by motion or responsive pleading at the option of the pleader. Unlike subject matter jurisdiction, the defense of failure to state a cause of action can be waived. See Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co. v. Vosburgh, 480 So. 2d 140 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (defense of failure to state a cause of action deemed waived if not presented before or during trial); Curico v. Cessna Finance Corp., 424 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (same); see also 5A Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure, § 1392 (1990). For the reasons and authorities cited hereafter, petitioners contend that the failure to plead and prove the existence of an excess judgment raised the defense of failure to state a cause of action, which can be and was waived by respondent. The court below thus erred by holding that the trial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Unlike other affirmative defenses, the defense of failure to state a cause of action (and failure to join an indispensable party) also may be asserted by motion for judgment on the pleadings or at the trial on the merits. Fla.R.Civ.P 1.140(h)(2).

court lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

In <u>Cope</u>, this court specifically decided that "once an injured party has released the tortfeasor from all liability, or has satisfied the underlying judgment, no such action [bad faith] may be maintained." <u>Cope</u>, 462 So. 2d at 459. Thus, the insured in that case, who had entered into an agreement which had the legal effect of releasing the insured and satisfying the excess judgment, was precluded from bringing a bad faith action against the insurer. The bad faith claim in <u>Cope</u> was not rejected, however, on jurisdictional grounds, but because the insured no longer had a <u>cause of action</u> after the injured party executed the release and satisfaction:

An essential ingredient to any cause of action is damages. In this case Brosnan originally suffered a judgment in excess of his policy. Before the action was filed, however, the judgment was satisfied. Upon its being satisfied Brosnan no longer had a cause of action; if he did not, then Cope did not. Cope's action was not separate and distinct from, but was derivative of Brosnan's.

Cope, 462 So. 2d at 461 (emphasis supplied).

This court has cited <u>Cope</u> for the more general proposition that "[t]hird-party actions do not allow for the recovery of the excess judgment in cases in which the insured is not damaged by the excess liability." <u>McLeod v. Continental Insurance Co.</u>, 591 So. 2d 621, 625 (Fla. 1992). Neither this court, however, nor the district courts applying <u>Cope</u>, have interpreted the decision as raising an issue of subject matter jurisdiction as the court below decided. Instead, parties whose

recoveries have been defeated by <u>Cope</u> have met their fate because their claims failed to state a cause of action, not because the trial court was deprived of subject matter jurisdiction.

For example, in Shuster v. South Broward Hospital District Physicians' Professional Liability Insurance Trust, 570 So. 2d 1362 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), approved, 591 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 1992), a physician sued his insurer for bad faith even though the insurer settled the claim against the physician within policy limits and the physician was not subjected to an excess judgment. The physician argued nonetheless that the insurer's settlement against his wishes had damaged his business and reputation and that he suffered resulting emotional distress. The trial court dismissed the physician's complaint for failure to state a cause of action rather than on jurisdictional grounds. Relying on Cope, the district court affirmed and held "that such a complaint fails to state a cause of action." Shuster, 570 So. 2d at 1363 (emphasis supplied). This court approved the district court's opinion, and, while not citing Cope, held under the circumstances presented that "a cause of action for breach of a good faith duty owing to the insured will not lie . . . . " Shuster v. South Broward Hospital District Physicians' Professional Liability Insurance Trust, 591 So. 2d 174, 178 (Fla. 1992). The trial court's subject matter jurisdiction was not discussed at either the district court or supreme court level. See also Florida Physicians Insurance Reciprocal v. Avila, 473 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); rev. denied, 484 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1986); Forston v. St Paul Fire and Marine

Insurance Co., 751 F.2d 1157, 1161 (11th Cir. 1985).3

II.

The decision below is factually distinguishable from <a href="Cope">Cope</a>.

The essence of the court's ruling in Cope is that in the absence of an excess judgment, the insured cannot demonstrate that he has been damaged by the insurer's failure to exercise good faith in the handling and settlement of the claim brought against him. See McLeod v. Continental Insurance Co., supra. The injured party in Cope, for example, entered into an agreement which released the insured and satisfied the excess judgment and thus negated the insured's damages. In the case at bar, unlike Cope, the parties agreed to try the bad faith case before a final judgment in excess of the policy limits had been entered against the insured, and, pursuant to this agreement, the insurer waived the affirmative defense of failure to state a cause of action based upon plaintiffs inability to plead the entry of an excess judgment against the insured. Standard Guaranty also agreed in the pretrial stipulation that its insured was negligent and that the damages sustained by Cunningham, the injured party, exceeded the available policy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Forston involved an action for first-party bad faith brought pursuant to Section 624.155. As an interesting contrast, one issue decided by Forston concerned whether diversity of citizenship existed between the parties, presenting a classic example of a question affecting the court's <u>subject matter jurisdiction</u>. The district court dismissed the complaint for lack of diversity and, consequently, lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The court of appeals reversed the jurisdictional ruling but affirmed the judgment because the action was filed prematurely before resolution of the underlying action and the "complaint thus <u>failed to state a cause of action."</u> Forston, 751 F.2d at 1161 (emphasis supplied).

limits. These stipulations had the practical effect of supplying the missing element required by <u>Cope</u>, i.e., a judgment for damages in excess of the policy limits. <u>Cf. Wollard v. Lloyd's and Companies of Lloyd's</u>, 439 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 1983)(settlement by insurer of underlying claim "functional equivalent of a confession of judgment" for purposes of awarding attorneys fees).

The district court below thus erred by relying on <u>Cope</u> and characterizing Cunninghams' failure to plead the presence of an excess judgment as a defect in their cause of action which deprived the trial court of subject matter jurisdiction. The failure to plead and prove that the insured was subjected to an excess judgment, as suggested by Judge Wolf's concurring opinion, entitles the insurer to assert as an affirmative defense the complaint's failure to state a cause of action, a defense which was waived by respondent. Moreover, Standard Guaranty's concession of liability and admission that damages exceeded the policy limits served as the "functional equivalent" of an excess judgment, affording a further basis for distinguishing <u>Cope</u>.

#### III.

Case law addressing the abstract concept of subject matter jurisdiction supports petitioners' position.

Petitioners' position also is supported by case law addressing the abstract concept of "subject matter jurisdiction" and by analysis of the cases drawing the distinction between matters affecting the subject matter jurisdiction of the court and those affecting whether the complaint states a cause of action for

which relief can be granted.

The court's "subject matter jurisdiction" concerns "the power of the court to deal with the class of cases to which the particular case belongs . . . . " Lovett v. Lovett, 93 Fla. 611, 112 So. 768, 775 (Fla. 1927). Stated differently:

"Jurisdiction," in the strict meaning of the term, as applied to judicial officers and tribunals, means no more than the power lawfully existing to hear and determine a cause. It is the power lawfully conferred to deal with the general subject involved in the action. It does not depend upon the ultimate existence of a good cause of action in the plaintiff, in the particular case before the court. It is the "power to adjudge concerning the general question involved, and is not dependent upon the state of facts which may appear in the particular case."

Malone v. Meres, 91 Fla. 709, 109 So. 677, 683 (1926)(citations
omitted).

As recognized by this court in <u>Malone</u> and <u>Lovett</u>, the subject matter jurisdiction of Florida courts is derived from the Florida Constitution or by statutes enacted by the legislature pursuant to constitutional directive. <u>Caudell v. Leventis</u>, 43 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1950). In the case of the circuit court, the constitutional and statutory provisions confer jurisdiction over actions at law for damages that exceed, as applicable to this case, the sum of \$5,000. Art. V, § 5(b), Fla. Const.; §§ 26.012, 34.01(1)(c)2., Fla. Stat. (1987).

Subject matter jurisdiction is <u>invoked</u> in the following manner:

A court's jurisdiction is generally invoked in a given case by a party filing a proper

pleading which alleges material facts demonstrating (1) the existence of a judicial controversy (a right in dispute between two or more parties) within the subject matter jurisdiction of the court and (2), when a binding judicial determination requires the court to act directly on an object (a res), that such court has, or can acquire, jurisdiction over such res.

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