70

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	I	L	E	Ď	16
	SI	D.J.	WHIT	E -***	4-1

MAR 1-5 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

KENNETH DALE CUNNINGHAM and TERESA MARIE CUNNINGHAM,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. 81,056

vs.

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DCA No. 91-2785

STANDARD GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

David H. Burns (Fla. Bar No. 0350028)
Michael D. West (Fla. Bar No. 0710938)
Joseph E. Brooks (Fla. Bar No. 0880752)
Huey, Guilday, Kuersteiner & Tucker, P.A.
Highpoint Center, Suite 900
Post Office Box 1794
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 224-7091
Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Notwithstanding the parties' stipulation to try the bad faith claim first, the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to do so because there is no final judgment against the insured in excess of policy limits, and therefore a cause of action for bad faith handling of the Cunninghams' claim does not exist. The absence of an excess judgment is more than a mere pleading defect that can be waived, it is an essential ingredient for the exercise of the court's jurisdiction. Such a defect is never waived and can be raised even on appeal.

The stipulations between the parties do not constitute the "functional equivalent" of an excess judgment because there has been no determination of damages to the insured, and the stipulations do not legally obligate the insured to pay anything, nor can a lien attach. Moreover, deeming the stipulations to be the functional equivalent of an excess judgment would in effect overrule the well-established legal principles that parties cannot create subject matter jurisdiction by stipulation or other conduct. The Cunninghams are not deprived of any remedy and may still pursue a bad faith claim against Standard Guaranty after a judgment, if any, is entered against the insured in excess of policy limits in the underlying action.

The circuit court does not have subject matter jurisdiction in this case either in the general sense of the term or the particular sense, since a bad faith cause of action does not yet exist. The court's jurisdiction is not and cannot be lawfully invoked, and therefore cannot be exercised, because the material fact most necessary to warrant the exercise of the court's power, an excess judgment, does not exist. The district court's decision is entirely consistent with the prior decisions of that court and this court.

Policy considerations do not support the trying of a bad faith claim before the underlying tort claim for damages. There is no assurance of increased judicial economy because there is no assurance that two actions will not be necessary even if the bad faith claim is tried first. Indeed, even though the bad faith claim was tried first here, the underlying claim for damages was subsequently noticed for trial. Additionally, a verdict on either the underlying claim or the bad faith claim is equally as likely to promote settlement of the other. Finally, requiring a determination of the underlying claim before trying the bad faith claim does not preclude agreements affording insureds complete protection from the financial consequences of an excess judgment.

The Cunninghams fail to show that plaintiffs pursuing bad faith claims are harmed or prejudiced under current law requiring an excess judgment first, or that approval of the procedure used in this case is of great importance or value to the public.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED FIDELITY AND CASUALTY CO. v. COPE.

In <u>Fidelity and Casualty Co. v. Cope</u>, 462 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1985), this court held that, absent a prior assignment of the bad faith cause of action, an injured third party who has secured a judgment in excess of a tortfeasor's insurance coverage cannot maintain a bad faith claim against the insurer where the injured party has executed a release of his claim against the tortfeasor who has satisfied the judgment. As a basis for so holding, this court significantly said that since the judgment had been satisfied, the injured third party "no longer had a cause of action." Id. at 461 (emphasis supplied).

In the instant case, the district court noted that the Cunninghams' bad faith claim against Standard Guaranty was tried before their underlying negligence claim for damages against Standard Guaranty's insured, and that the only issue tried was whether Standard Guaranty had acted in bad faith. Standard Guaranty Ins. Co. v. Cunningham, 610 So.2d 458, 460 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). Citing Cope, the district court said, "[n]o claim for damages was presented to the jury, nor could such claim be presented prior to entry of a verdict against the insured which exceeded the policy limits." Id. (emphasis supplied). The district court plainly recognized that the Cunninghams could not bring a bad faith claim because they did not have one.

The Cunninghams contend that the answer to the question certified by the district court depends upon whether the failure to plead the existence of an excess judgment constitutes a defect that deprives the trial court of subject matter jurisdiction or a defect that presents the defense of failure to state a cause of action, which can be waived (Initial Brief at 7-8). The Cunninghams mischaracterize this case and misapprehend the law.

First, this case is not about a mere pleading defect; it is not about the mere failure to state a cause of action, but about the fundamental failure to have a cause of action. Nowhere in its opinion does the district court indicate that its decision was based upon a mere pleading deficiency. To the contrary, the district court said, "[w]e find that the trial court lacked subject-matter jurisdiction to determine whether Standard [Guaranty] acted in bad faith in handling the negligence claim against the insured, James, absent a final judgment against its insured which exceeded the policy limits." 610 So.2d at 459 (emphasis supplied). Similarly, the issue in Cope was not whether there was a mere failure to state a cause of action. Rather, the issue was whether a cause of action for bad faith any longer See 462 So.2d at 460-61. This court held that the existed. release and satisfaction of judgment meant that the injured party "no longer had a cause of action." Id. at 461 (emphasis supplied). More compelling than Cope, the Cunninghams have never had a cause of action.

Second, lack of subject matter jurisdiction and failure to state a cause of action are not mutually exclusive defects in this case. The Cunninghams' failure to plead the existence of an excess judgment resulted in their failure to state a cause of action, which they admit (Initial Brief at 15), and the absence of an excess judgment as a matter of law means they have no bad faith claim, and therefore no subject matter, over which the circuit court can exercise jurisdiction. The Cunninghams cannot simply correct a defect in their pleading by amending their complaint to allege an excess judgment. None exists. As a noted authority on civil procedure has stated:

Defects [in pleading] that are not asserted in the motion [to dismiss] are waived, but this applies only to those defects that are remediable. If the pleading attempts to state a cause of action that is unknown to the law, the defect is never waived. The distinction is between a defectively stated cause of action and no cause of action at all. [Footnote and citation omitted.]

Henry P. Trawick, Jr., <u>Trawick's Florida Practice and Procedure</u> § 10-4 (1992 edition).

Not only does the Cunninghams' Amended Complaint fail to state a cause of action for bad faith (R. 6-9), it <u>cannot</u> state a cause of action for bad faith because no excess judgment exists. Such a defect is never waived because an excess judgment is an "essential ingredient" to a legally cognizable cause of action for bad faith. <u>See Cope</u>, 462 So.2d at 461. Until an excess judgment is entered, there is no cause of action at all and therefore no basis for a court to exercise jurisdiction over a bad faith claim, i.e., the

court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. Cf. BEC Constr. Corp. v. Gonzalez, 383 So.2d 1093 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) (since claim for industrial claims benefits on behalf of deceased client was a nullity, industrial claims judge and court lacked jurisdiction over it and associated claim for attorneys' fees); Bumby & Stimpson, Inc. v. Peninsula Utilities Corp., 179 So.2d 414 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965) (until rendition of a final judgment, notice of appeal cannot confer jurisdiction on court); Tom v. State ex rel. Tom, 143 So.2d 226 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962) (same). The fact that Standard Guaranty stipulated to trying the purported bad faith action first, thereby choosing not to raise the defense of failure to state a cause of action, did not prevent it from challenging the authority of the circuit court to hear and determine the matter when it later discovered that the lack of an excess judgment is a jurisdictional defect, which is waived. never See, <u>e.q.</u>, Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.140(h)(2); Tamiami Trail Tours v. Wooten, 47 So.2d 743, 745 (Fla. 1950).

Finally, the mere fact that the bad faith claims in the other cases cited by the Cunninghams (Initial Brief at 10)¹ may have been dismissed for failure to <u>state</u> a cause of action does not mean that this was the exclusive defect and that no bad faith claims can be

¹ Shuster v. South Broward Hospital District Physicians Prof. Liab. Ins. Trust, 570 So.2d 1362 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), approved, 591 So.2d 174 (Fla. 1992); Florida Physicians Ins. Reciprocal v. Avila, 473 So.2d 756 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), rev. denied, 484 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1986); Forston v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 751 F.2d 1157 (11th Cir. 1985).

dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction when there is no excess judgment.

II.

THE FACTUAL DISTINCTIONS MADE BY THE CUNNINGHAMS BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND COPE ARE IMMATERIAL.

The Cunninghams attempt to distinguish this case from <u>Cope</u> on the grounds that the parties here stipulated that they would try the bad faith claim first, that Standard Guaranty's insured was negligent, and that the Cunninghams' damages exceeded the available policy limits. The Cunninghams contend that these stipulations constitute the "functional equivalent" of an excess judgment (Initial Brief at 11-12.). This argument lacks merit.

Like the Cunninghams, the plaintiff in <u>Cope</u> also attempted to avoid the requirement that the insured must first suffer damages by being exposed to an excess judgment. Rejecting the plaintiff's argument that his claim was a separate cause of action based on a duty owed directly to him by the insurer, this court stated that the basis for the plaintiff's action "remained the damages of an insured from the bad faith action of the insurer which caused its insured to suffer a judgment for damages above his policy limits." 462 So.2d at 461 (emphasis supplied). Here, as in <u>Cope</u>, absent an injury or damages to the insured in the form of an excess judgment, there is no cause of action for bad faith handling of the plaintiffs' claim.

In Cope, this court cited with approval Kelly v. Williams, 411 So.2d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA), review denied, 419 So.2d 1198 (Fla. 1982). In Kelly, the 5th DCA held that a cause of action for bad faith "arises when the insured is legally obligated to pay a judgment that is in excess of his policy limits." Id. at 904 (emphasis in the original). Since the parties in Kelly stipulated that the insured's liability was limited to the \$50,000 policy amount, no cause of action for bad faith existed. Id. Similarly, Standard Guaranty's insured is not legally obligated to pay an amount in excess of policy limits or an excess judgment. stipulations are not the "functional equivalent" of an excess judgment because they in no way legally obligate the insured to pay Indeed, the underlying claim for damages has been noticed for trial by the Cunninghams' counsel to determine the legal obligation (Ans. Brief App. 1). Furthermore, unlike a judgment, no lien attaches to the stipulations.

If the stipulations were deemed the "functional equivalent" of an excess judgment, the effect would be to overrule well-established rules of law. Parties cannot create subject matter jurisdiction by stipulation even though they desire to do so.

E.g., Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So.2d 1167, 1171 n. 2 (Fla. 1991);

Cates v. Heffernan, 154 Fla. 422, 18 So.2d 11, 16 (1944) (en banc).

And subject matter jurisdiction cannot be created by waiver, acquiescence, or agreement of the parties, or by error or inadvertence of the parties or their counsel. E.g., Florida Export

Tobacco v. Dep't of Revenue, 510 So.2d 936, 943 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987)

(citing Florida Nat'l Bank v. Kassewitz, 156 Fla. 761, 25 So.2d 271 (1946)), rev. denied, 519 So.2d 986 (Fla. 1987). The parties' agreement in this case to try a cause of action that as a matter of law does not exist cannot confer subject matter jurisdiction on the circuit court. Cf. Tom, 143 So.2d at 227 (notice of appeal filed before rendition of final judgment cannot confer jurisdiction, and the parties' attempt to cure the premature notice by stipulating that it was entered at a later date could not confer jurisdiction, either).

The intended effect of the parties' stipulation here was to supply the essential ingredient—an excess judgment—so that the bad faith claim could be heard, even though the underlying claim for damages had not been determined. Certain facts, however, cannot be stipulated to, including those that would confer jurisdiction. For example, parties cannot stipulate to an earlier date of rendition of a judgment in order to cure a prematurely filed notice of appeal and thereby confer subject matter jurisdiction on an appellate court. Tom, 143 So.2d at 227. See also State ex rel. Diamond Berk Ins. Agency v. Carroll, 102 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1958); Cates v. Heffernan, 154 Fla. 422, 18 So.2d 11 (1944).

Similarly, parties cannot stipulate to the existence of an excess judgment. They can stipulate to the entry of a judgment, but a judgment must be entered by the court in the underlying action before a legal obligation exists which the court can recognize as the basis for the bad faith action. The result arguably might be different here if, pursuant to the parties'

stipulation, a consent final judgment for an amount certain in excess of policy limits had been entered by the circuit court.

The Cunninghams' reliance on Wollard v. Lloyds and Companies of Lloyds, 439 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1983), is misplaced. In Wollard, this court held that a negotiated settlement of a coverage dispute between an insured and insurer before trial was the functional equivalent of a confession of judgment or verdict in favor of the insured for the purpose of awarding attorneys' fees pursuant to Section 627.428, Florida Statutes (1979). The policy basis for that decision was that it would be unjust if an insurer could avoid liability for statutory attorneys' fees simply by paying the insurance proceeds after suit is filed but before final judgment is entered. This would either deprive the insured of his remedy or require the plaintiff to continue litigation, despite an acceptable settlement offer, in order to recover his attorneys' fees. Id. at 218.

In the instant case, however, the absence of an excess judgment and resulting lack of subject matter jurisdiction does not deprive the Cunninghams of their remedy. They may still pursue their bad faith claim against Standard Guaranty after a judgment, if any, is entered against the insured in excess of policy limits in the underlying action. Further, Wollard did not involve two causes of action, one of which was dependent upon the outcome of the other for its existence. The plaintiff in Wollard was required to obtain a judgment in an action first merely in order to be

awarded attorneys' fees in that same action.² The Cunninghams, on the other hand, are required to obtain an excess judgment in one action first in order to establish a lawful basis for bringing another, different action. Finally, a court's continuing jurisdiction to determine an award of statutory attorneys' fees in a proper existing case is not like its jurisdiction to hear and determine the case to begin with.

III.

CASE LAW ADDRESSING THE CONCEPT OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION DOES NOT SUPPORT THE CUNNINGHAMS' POSITION.

The Cunninghams contend that the circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction refers to its authority to deal with the general class of cases to which the particular case represented by the complaint belongs, citing Malone v. Meres, 91 Fla. 709, 109 So. 677, 683 (1926), Lovett v. Lovett, 93 Fla. 611, 112 So. 768, 775 (1927) (Initial Brief at 6, 13). The Cunninghams' reliance on these cases also is misplaced. The instant case does not belong to the general class of cases over which the circuit court has subject matter jurisdiction—namely, bad faith insurance actions—because the basis for this case is not an excess judgment but an agreement to try a bad faith action that does not exist as a matter of law. This case merely purports to be a bad faith action.

² There is no claim for attorneys' fees in this case, nor are the Cunninghams entitled to attorneys' fees.

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